# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

DEBRA COITO,

Petitioner,

Case No. S181712

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF STANISLAUS COUNTY,

Respondent.

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 09 2010

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Real Party in Interest

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F057690
Honorable Bert Levy, Acting Presiding Justice
Honorable Betty L. Dawson, Justice
Honorable Stephen Kane, Justice
Stanislaus County Superior Court, Case No. 624500
Honorable William A. Mayhew

### STATE OF CALIFORNIA'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

EDMUND G. BROWN JR.
Attorney General of California
DAVID S. CHANEY
Chief Assistant Attorney General
GORDON BURNS
Deputy Solicitor General

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Does California's work product statute, enacted to prevent attorneys from taking undue advantage of their adversary's industry and efforts, apply to witness statements recorded verbatim by an attorney or an attorney's representative?

### INTRODUCTION

In litigation, it would be valuable indeed to know what an opponent's attorney is thinking. The Legislature adopted the work product privilege to prevent a party from using the discovery process to obtain clues about an opposing attorney's thoughts and to take advantage of the attorney's industry and efforts. The court below, however, held that the work product privilege does not apply to recorded interviews of three witnesses, even though the attorney selected the witnesses, sent an investigator to interview them, and instructed the investigator to ask specific questions.

Recorded statements such as these are classic examples of attorney work product. Every day attorneys investigate the favorable and unfavorable aspects of anticipated and actual legal controversies. Conscientious counsel identify witnesses from whom statements should be taken, and instruct investigators to interview these individuals. Recorded verbatim interviews provide accurate information to counsel, assist counsel in providing sound advice to clients, and have historically been protected as the work product of the attorney. (*Hickman v. Taylor* (1947) 329 U.S. 495, 511, 67 S.Ct. 385, 394.)

California has a robust work product privilege. The California Legislature codified its intent to enact attorney work product protection as follows:

• to "preserve the rights of attorneys to prepare cases . . . with that degree of privacy necessary to encourage them to prepare

their cases thoroughly and to investigate not only the favorable but the unfavorable aspects of those cases" (Code Civ. Proc., § 2018.020, subd. (a);

• to "prevent attorneys from taking undue advantage of their adversary's industry and efforts." (Code Civ. Proc., § 2018.020, subd. (b).)

The court below erred. California's attorney work product protection, consistent with *Hickman*, was designed to prevent opposing counsel, by a routine discovery request, from gaining a free ride upon an opponent's thought process, thoroughness, and industry. If upheld, the decision below would fundamentally change this equation and the everyday practice of law. An attorney's recorded question and answer session with a witness often would be afforded neither absolute, nor qualified, work product protection in the face of a routine discovery request.

In short, the decision below should be reversed for the following reasons. First, it is inconsistent with California's attorney work product statute, and its loose standard, if adopted here, will burden the courts with more discovery disputes. Second, the court below incorrectly concluded the denial of attorney work product protection was necessary to promote fairness and prevent surprise. Third, it incorrectly relied upon several distinguishable court of appeals decisions.

#### **STATEMENT**

- 1. California's attorney work product statute reflects the Legislature's intent to "prevent attorneys from taking undue advantage of their adversary's industry and efforts." (Code Civ. Proc., § 2018.020, subd.
- (b).) Both an absolute and a qualified privilege is recognized in California.

The absolute privilege covers "a writing that reflects an attorney's impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal research or theories. . . . " This

type of attorney work product "[i]s not discoverable under any circumstances." (Code Civ. Proc., § 2018.030, subd. (a).) A "writing" is any form of recorded information, including audio recordings. (Code Civ. Proc., § 2016.020, subd. (c); Evid. Code, §250.)

The qualified privilege states:

The work product of an attorney, other than a writing described in subdivision (a), is not discoverable unless the court determines that denial of discovery will unfairly prejudice the party seeking discovery in preparing that party's claim or defense or will result in an injustice.

(Code Civ. Proc., § 2018.030, subd. (b).)

2. On November 12, 2008, an investigator employed by the Office of the Attorney General, counsel for state agency defendants, interviewed four witnesses. These witnesses were believed to have information related to the alleged wrongful death of Jeremy Wilson, a thirteen year-old-boy who drowned in the Tuolumne River. (Index of Exhibits (IOE), p. 294.) Plaintiff, in response to discovery requests, previously disclosed the identity of these witnesses as well as several others. (IOE, pp. 294, 299-317.)

Counsel representing the state defendants selected the witnesses to interview and provided his investigator with questions he wanted answered. (IOE, pp. 293-294.) The investigator asked questions of the witnesses, at counsel's direction, and recorded the interviews. (*Id.*) The witnesses did not independently create their recorded statements and simply turn them over to the investigator. (IOE, p. 294.) Each taped statement was saved on a separate compact disk. (IOE, pp. 294, 320.)

Plaintiff propounded Judicial Council Form Interrogatory 12.3, which asks: "Have you or anyone acting on your behalf obtained a written or recorded statement from any individual concerning the incident?" If the

answer is yes, the interrogatory requests the name, address and phone number of the interviewee, interviewer, and person in possession of the statement, and the date of the statement.

In response to this interrogatory, the Office of the Attorney General disclosed that "defense counsel, through his investigator, interviewed witnesses on November 12, 2008" (IOE, p. 325); objected to both the discovery of the names of the interviewees and to the content of the interviews, citing Code of Civil Procedure section 2018.030, subdivisions (a) and (b), and *Nacht & Lewis Architects, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 214 (*id.*); and provided a detailed privilege log which asserted the attorney work product protection for the recorded interviews. (IOE, p, 320.)

In the case cited by the Office of the Attorney General, *Nacht & Lewis*, the Third Appellate District applied sections 2018.020 and 2018.030, and adopted a bright line rule:

The Respondent court should compel further responses to interrogatory No. 12.3 only to the extent the court determines defendants' counsel obtained an independently written or recorded statement from one or more of the employees interviewed by counsel.

(Id. at p. 218.)

Nacht & Lewis distinguished between unprotected statements collected which "the [witnesses] had previously written or recorded themselves" and statements recorded by counsel "in notes or otherwise." It held any notes or recorded statements taken by counsel would be protected by the absolute work product privilege. (*Id.* at p. 217.)

The Office of the Attorney General relied on *Nacht & Lewis* when it responded to discovery requests in this case. Its investigators did not obtain independently written or recorded statements from witnesses, and never secured any other material independently created by the witnesses. (IOE,

p. 294.) Objections on behalf of the state defendants were made to protect the thought process of counsel and the work product of his investigator.

Plaintiff filed a motion to compel discovery of the recorded interviews. No showing was made, as required by section 2018.030(b), that a denial of access to counsel's recorded question and answer session with witnesses would result in unfair prejudice or injustice to the party seeking discovery. There was no claim the witnesses had left the jurisdiction, were gravely ill, deceased or otherwise unavailable to be interviewed. (IOE, pp. 179-185, 419-426.)

The trial court denied plaintiff's motion to compel. The court held that the list of witnesses selected to be interviewed by defense counsel constituted qualified work product, and the recorded witness statements were entitled to absolute attorney work product protection. (IOE, pp. 429-430.) The court relied upon *Nacht & Lewis*. (*Id*.)

3. On March 4, 2010, in a published opinion, the Fifth Appellate District issued a peremptory writ of mandate ordering the trial court to:
a) vacate its order denying the motions to compel; and b) enter an order granting the motions to compel. The Fifth Appellate District rejected the Third Appellate District's analysis in *Nacht & Lewis Architects, Inc. v.*Superior Court. Relying upon Greyhound Corp. v. Superior Court (1961) 56 Cal.2d 355, and the characterization of witness statements recorded by counsel as evidentiary, nonderivative material, the court held that the recorded statements are simply unprotected by California's attorney work product statute.

Justice Kane authored a 20-page concurring and dissenting opinion. He concluded that statements recorded by defense counsel in this case "are at least qualified work product." (Coito v. Superior Court (2010) 182 Cal. App.4th 758, 784, original italics (dis. opn. of Kane, J.).) Justice Kane's dissent criticized the majority's reliance on Greyhound because that case

"expressly determined that the work product privilege did not then exist under California law." (*Id.* at p.780, n. 12.) He also disagreed with the majority's decision to characterize a witness statement recorded by counsel as "nonderivative and wholly evidentiary." Justice Kane explained that this distinction ignores the legislative intent of the work product statute, and the terms are too broad and overlapping to provide meaningful guidance. (*Id.* at p.781.)

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE RECORDED STATEMENTS ARE PROTECTED UNDER CALIFORNIA'S ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT STATUTE.
  - A. California's Attorney Work Product Statute Is Broad In Scope.

California's attorney work product protection reflects the Legislature's intent to encourage thorough preparation and investigation of all aspects of a case and to "prevent attorneys from taking undue advantage of their adversary's industry and efforts." (Code Civ. Proc., § 2018.020, subds. (a), (b).) Both an absolute and a qualified attorney work product protection are recognized in California. The absolute attorney work product protection covers "a writing that reflects an attorney's impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal research or theories . . . ." This type of attorney work product "[i]s not discoverable under any circumstances." (Code Civ. Proc., § 2018.030, subd. (a).)

The qualified work product protection is outlined as follows:

The work product of an attorney, other than a writing described in subdivision (a), is not discoverable unless the court determines that denial of discovery will unfairly prejudice the party seeking discovery in preparing that party's claim or defense or will result in an injustice.

(Code Civ. Proc., § 2018.030(b), emphasis added.) The court of appeal has summarized work product as:

the product of [the attorney's] effort, research, and thought in the preparation of his client's case. It includes the results of his own work, and the work of those employed by him or for him by his client, in investigating both the favorable and unfavorable aspects of the case, the information thus assembled, and the legal theories and plan of strategy developed by the attorney-all as reflected in interviews, statements, memoranda, correspondence, briefs, and any other writings reflecting the attorney's impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal research or theories....

(BP Alaska Exploration, Inc. v. Superior Court (1988) 199 Cal.App.3d 1240, 1253-1254, fn. 4, citing McCoy, California Civil Discovery: Work Product of Attorneys (1966) 18 Stan.L.Rev.783, 797.)

Notably, the court below failed to recognize that the work product statute reflects a policy decision by the Legislature to protect attorney work product despite its potential relevance and value to a particular case. The statute was enacted, in part, to overturn the decision by this Court in Greyhound Corp. v. Superior Court (1961) 56 Cal.2d 355, 401. In Greyhound, this Court refused to acknowledge the existence of a work product privilege in California. Greyhound affirmed the order of a trial court to disclose written witness statements to opposing counsel because "[p]etitioner has not only failed to convince us that 'work product' is equated with privilege in California, it has failed to indicate the reasons underlying that doctrine would be applicable to this proceeding." (Id. at p. 401; see also Suezaki v. Superior Court (1962) 58 Cal.2d 166, 177 ["simply because the subject matter sought to be discovered is the 'work product' of the attorney it is not privileged."].) The court below adopted the view, expressed in Greyhound, that "the Civil Discovery Act 'must be construed liberally in favor of disclosure unless the request is clearly improper by virtue of well-established causes for denial...." (Coito v. Superior Court, *supra*, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 765.)

The lower court's reliance on *Greyhound* and its attempt to balance these policies overlooks the fact that the Legislature rejected *Greyhound* on this point, and the Legislature balanced the competing policies when it enacted the work product statute. In response to *Greyhound*, the California State Bar sponsored an amendment to the Discovery Act to create a separate privilege for materials prepared in anticipation of litigation.

The State Bar's proposed amendment provided: "[I]t is the policy of this state (i) to preserve the rights of parties and their attorneys to prepare cases for trial with that degree of privacy necessary to encourage them to prepare their cases thoroughly and to investigate not only the favorable but the unfavorable aspects of such cases and (ii) to so limit discovery that one party or his attorney may not take undue advantage of this [sic] adversary's industry or efforts. Accordingly, the following shall not be discoverable unless the court determines that denial of discovery will unfairly prejudice the party seeking discovery in preparing his claim or defense or will result in an injustice: (1) The work product of an attorney. . . . " (Committee Report-Administration of Justice, IOE, 336-337.) The Committee Report noted that the proposed amendments, if enacted, "will afford substantially more protection to 'work product' than now exists under the California rule as explained in the Greyhound case." (Committee Report-Administration of Justice, IOE, p. 338.) In 1963, the Legislature adopted the State Bar's amendment almost verbatim.

Thus, the terms and legislative purposes of the work product statute govern its application. If a writing falls within the absolute privilege, it is "not discoverable under any circumstances." (Code Civ. Proc. § 2018.030; see *Rico v. Mitsubishi Motors Corp.* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 807, 820 [noting that the content and value of a writing are irrelevant if the writing is absolutely privileged; it is "off limits."].) If a writing falls within the conditional privilege, the Legislature has settled the requirements for discovery: the

writing is "not discoverable unless the court determines that denial of discovery will unfairly prejudice the party seeking discovery in preparing that party's claim or defense or will result in an injustice." (Code of Civ. Proc., § 2018.030, subd. (b); see *City of Long Beach v. Superior Court* (1976) 64 Cal.App.3d 65, 78-79.)

# B. The Court Should Adopt A Bright Line Rule For Recorded Statements.

Nacht & Lewis, supra, 47 Cal.App.4th 214, provides a rule that tracks the statutory terms and purposes. The Court of Appeal in Nacht & Lewis distinguished statements that a witness has independently written or recorded, which are discoverable, from statements recorded by counsel in notes or otherwise, which are privileged. (Id. at pp. 217-218.) This is a straightforward application of California's work product statute.

A statement that is independently recorded by a witness does not reflect an attorney's impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal research or theories because the attorney had nothing to do with it. Statements produced by an attorney, on the other hand, such as a recorded interview with a witness, inherently reflect the attorney's impressions, conclusions, opinions, or theories, not only because the attorney's ideas are the creative force which led to the recorded statement from that particular witness, but also, of course, the questions (and omitted questions) reflect the attorney's thought process. (See *id.*; see also *Well Point Health Networks Inc. v. Superior Court* (1997) 59 Cal. App. 4th 110, 119, fn. 4 [holding that attorney work product does not extend to memoranda and statements separately prepared by the interviewees].) This Court cited *Nacht* for this distinction in *Rico v. Mitsubishi* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 807, 814.

The bright line rule of *Nacht & Lewis* has practical advantages.

Generally, to ensure that a rule is predictable and reduces burdens on courts

and parties, "crisp rules with sharp corners are preferable to a round-about doctrine of opaque standards." (See *Bittinger v Tecumseh Products Co*. (6th Cir. 1997) 123 F.3d 877, 881.) With a bright line rule, attorneys would know in advance whether recorded statements are discoverable. By contrast, the rule adopted by the court below invites uncertainty and disputes. For example, the court suggested that if "there were something unique about a particular witness interviewed that revealed interpretive rather than evidentiary information" nothing would "prevent the attorney resisting discovery from requesting an in camera hearing before the superior court and the opportunity to convince the court that the interview or some portion of it should be protected . . . ." (*Coito v. Superior Court* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 758,770.) Given this invitation, an unintended consequence of the decision below will be increased court involvement in resolving discovery disputes.

As a practical matter attorneys do reveal their thought process when engaging in recorded question and answer sessions with witnesses. And, as a practical matter, industrious attorneys who take the time to do so, would justifiably take up the *Coito* decision's invitation to engage the trial court as the arbiter to protect their thought process from routine discovery requests. As Justice Kane pointed out, to characterize a statement recorded by an attorney "as nonderivative is a blatant misnomer." (*Coito v. Superior Court* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 758, 781 (dis. opn. of Kane, J.).) Due to the overlapping meanings of "nonderivative", "interpretive" and "evidentiary", it is reasonable to expect an increase in resort to the courts for resolution of such disputes.

Bright line rules, like the one articulated in *Nacht & Lewis* promote clarity and uniformity in the practice of law. The decision below invites confusion, will trigger increased discovery litigation, and invites inconsistent results.

# C. The Recorded Witness Statements Comfortably Fit Within the Statutory Description of Materials that Are Absolutely Privileged.

The recorded statements in this case are absolutely privileged because the recorded question and answer sessions fit within the categories for absolute privilege under section 2018.030, subd. (a). Each is a writing that reveals counsel's thought process and evaluation of the case. Counsel selected the witnesses for the investigator; thus the list of witnesses indicates the attorney's impression of which witnesses are sufficiently important to obtain a recorded statement. Counsel instructed the investigator to ask specific questions; thus the questions provide insights into the attorney's conclusions, opinions, and theories. (*Id.*)

In some cases, the identity of the witnesses may present a different question than the content of witness interviews, but at least should be protected under the qualified privilege. (*Nacht, supra*, 47 Cal.App.4th at p. 217; see also *People v. Coddington*<sup>2</sup> (2000) 23 Cal.4th 529, 606.) When

A list of witnesses interviewed by counsel may be entitled to absolute protection. For example, the list may reflect counsel's impression that a witness is unstable or has a poor memory. The decision to interview witnesses to particular events, or certain types of witnesses, may reflect counsel's theory of the case or trial strategy. In a commercial dispute, an attorney's decision only to record statements from a company's accountants might reveal that the attorney plans to rely heavily on the accountants' advise as a defense. In short, whether a list of witnesses selected to be interviewed by counsel falls under the absolute or qualified privilege depends on whether, in the context of a case, the list falls within the categories for absolute privilege. (Code Civ. Proc. § 2018.030, subd. (a).)

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