S181712



IN THE

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA-

Deputy

DEBRA COITO, individually and as Successor in Interest to Decedent Jeremy Wilson,

Plaintiff & Petitioner,

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE COUNTY OF STANISLAUS,

Respondent,

STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Defendant & Real Party in Interest.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F057690

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Joseph W. Carcione, Jr., Esq., State Bar No. 56693
Gary W. Dolinski, Esq., State Bar No. 107725
Neal A. Markowitz, Esq., State Bar No. 201692
Law Offices of Carcione, Cattermole, Dolinski,
Okimoto, Stucky, Ukshini, Markowitz & Carcione, L.L.P.

INTRODUCTION

All three Justices of the Fifth District Court of Appeal held in these writ proceedings that there is no possibility that the signed or recorded verbatim statement of an independent witness in a civil action could be "absolute attorney work product". Despite that unanimity in their disagreement with the contrary dicta in Nacht & Lewis Architects, Inc. v. Superior Court (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 214 ("Nacht & Lewis"), the Attorney General persists in making that indefensible argument in this Court. No

sound reason in law or public policy supports the Attorney General's position. Accordingly, this Court is urged to overrule *Nacht &Lewis* for the reasons stated in *Coito v. Superior Court* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 758.

That leaves the issue of whether the signed or recorded verbatim statements of independent witnesses should be considered "attorney work product" at all. The majority opinion in the Court of Appeal was that it should not; the minority opinion promoted the idea of "qualified" work product because an attorney conceived the questions asked of the witnesses.

The holdings by the *Coito* majority, that parties must answer Form Interrogatory No. 12.3 *completely*, and that signed or recorded verbatim verbatim statements *are not work product at all* and must be produced in discovery, were correct for the reasons given in the opinion, but also for a further reason presented herein that the Court of Appeal did not reach.

<u>First</u>, the majority opinion correctly applied the traditional "derivative versus non-derivative material" test, and held that such statements are non-derivative, and therefore are not work product.

Second, the majority opinion also applied an "evidentiary character" test, and held that such statements are potential *evidence*, and therefore cannot be withheld from discovery. This important distinction allows this

¹ The Opening Brief used the official reporter citation for *Coito*, and this Answering Brief follows that lead to maintain consistency in references to the Court of Appeal's opinions.

Court to hold that *all* independent witness statements that are potential evidence, i.e., they were written or signed (adopted) by the witnesses, or they are the recorded words of the witnesses, they are *all* discoverable.

Third, an additional, separately dispositive reason that such statements are not work product at all is the fact that there is no reasonable expectation, by either the attorney or the witness, that the witness' words or the attorney's questions once asked, are "confidential". No expectation exists because the lawyer and witness are strangers, between whom there is no pre-existing confidential relationship. The importance of this additional reason is that it allows this Court to establish a "bright line" rule for all statements that are the words of the witness, including signed or recorded verbatim statements. Because there is *never* a confidential relationship between lawyers and independent witnesses, as a matter of law there can never be a reasonable expectation of confidentiality. Absent confidentiality, *no* signed or recorded verbatim witness statements can ever be withheld from discovery. They *never* qualify as "attorney work product".

This Answering Brief also supports another good reason for rejecting this "absolute attorney work product" excuse for not producing confconfidential, evidentiary witness statements in discovery. That reason is the rights and interests of the witnesses themselves. Disclosure will prevent the manipulation of their testimony. Disclosure will prevent the witnesses from

being needlessly humiliated, or worse, exposed to perjury charges.

Disclosure is consistent with this Court's finding of good cause in *Beesley*v. Superior Court of San Diego County (1962) 58 Cal.2d 205, for the

production of statements because the witnesses could not recall what they
had told the procuring investigator.

The reason this Court should not accept the minority opinion's view that such witness statements are "qualified" attorney work product is because it has no principled basis that would allow for predictability of enforcement of this discovery right. If "qualified", their discoverability just depends upon the individual judge's decision, and civil litigants in this State are "back to square one" of being unable to predict which statements are discoverable. In a world where non-confidential independent witness statements are considered "qualified" attorney work product, what would inform each jurist's decision? There is no principled basis for treating this category of witness statements (signed or recorded verbatim statements of independent witnesses) as "attorney work product" in the first instance. Absent basic principles, there will be no uniformity in judicial decisions, and there will be no predictability about discovering witness statements. Consistency in the cases will only exist if this Court will affirm the Coito majority decision, and further utilize all three tests to hold that every party

that obtains a signed or recorded verbatim statement from an independent, third-party witness must disclose that evidence in discovery proceedings.

I. The Court of Appeal's Majority Opinion Correctly Followed

"The Long Line of Precedent" In California Jurisprudence To

Hold That A Signed Or Recorded Verbatim Statement Of An

Independent Witnesses Is Not Attorney Work Product, and

Therefore Cannot Be Withheld In Civil Discovery Proceedings

The Attorney General's Opening Brief has no answer for the fact that the majority opinion followed "the weight of authority" under California law in holding that "the statement of a witness, taken in writing or otherwise recorded verbatim, by an attorney or the attorney's representative," is not entitled to the protection of the California work-product privilege and is "therefore available through discovery." (Coito v. Superior Court (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 758, 761, and 769.)

While there is no reason for the undersigned to repeat the majority opinion's decision here, it is important to underscore the fact that the majority undertook a statutory construction of C.C.P. § 2018.030 and related statutes, and held that the "absolute" attorney work product protection in Subdivision (a) of that statute did not apply.

The majority opinion then addressed the "qualified" attorney work

product doctrine set forth in Subdivision (b) of Section 2018.030, noted that there was no statutory definition, and correctly described the applicable judicial test which is applied on a "case-by-case basis" as asking whether the disputed document was "derivative" or "interpretative" material, or "nonderivative" or "evidentiary" material. (*Id.*, at p. 767.) The Attorney General is unable to argue that the Court of Appeal used the "wrong test".

Section II of the majority opinion reviewed the jurisprudence and determined that *California courts* have held that independent witness statements do not have work-product protection. (*Id.*, at pp. 765-767.)

The single contrary precedent of *Nacht & Lewis* is properly found to have contradicted "the long line of contrary precedent" (*id.*, at p. 768), and the Fifth Appellate District refused to follow that solitary *dicta* (see below).

[W]e choose to follow the weight of authority and hold that written and recorded witness statements, including not only those produced by the witness and turned over to counsel but also those taken by counsel, are not attorney work product. [Coito, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 769.]

///

///

///

- II. Both The Majority and Minority Court Of Appeal's Opinions Correctly Held That Signed Or Recorded Verbatim Statements Of Independent Witnesses Are Potential Evidence
 - A. Signed or recorded verbatim statements are evidence, and hence they are necessarily discoverable.

The Attorney General's Opening Brief completely avoids the fact that signed or recorded witness statements are evidence, and can be used in depositions or at trial. This is a critical omission because the entirety of the Attorney General's position must presuppose that verbatim witness statements can be hidden from the parties and the witnesses because the statements are "not evidence". If the Attorney General would just concede the obvious, i.e., that signed and recorded verbatim witness statements "are evidence", then they must be discoverable. "The admissibility of a document bears on its discoverability in the sense that if the document is admissible, it necessarily is discoverable. (Norton v. Superior Court (1994) 24 Cal.App.4th 1750, 1760-1761, 30 Cal.Rptr.2d 217.)" (Volkswagen of America, Inc. v. Superior Court (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 1481, 1490, bold added.) From this logical conundrum, the Attorney General's assertion of "absolute", or even "qualified" attorney work product for verbatim independent witness' statements, cannot escape.

1. The Court of Appeal's majority opinion held that signed or recorded witness statements are classic evidentiary material.

The majority in *Coito v. Superior Court* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 758, 768-769, recognized that "witness statements are classic evidentiary material. They can be admitted at trial as prior inconsistent statements (Evid. Code, § 1235), prior consistent statements (id., § 1236), or past recollections recorded (id., § 1237). Yet, if the statements are not subject to discovery, the party denied access to them will have had no opportunity to [p. 769 of text] prepare for their use."

2. The Court of Appeal's concurring and dissenting opinion held that signed or recorded witness statements have the characteristics of evidentiary matter.

The concurring and dissenting opinion agreed that signed and recorded statements also have the "characteristics of evidentiary matter (i.e., a witness statement may be admissible to refresh recollection, or to impeach a witness, or if the witness becomes unavailable to testify)." (*Coito*, *supra*, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 778.)

B. The complete withholding, or even delayed production of evidentiary witness statements, are unjustifiable.

While it may be an obvious proposition that the suppression of testimony just because one attorney "got there first" is unacceptable because of the adverse consequences for the truth-seeking function of our adversarial system (*Coito*, p. 769.), it is also significant that delaying production of witness statements at the unilateral election of the opposing counsel is antithetical to all of the purposes of civil discovery.

Discovery should be obtained at the earliest possible stage in the proceedings since it plays a significant role in the preparation for depositions and trial, but also in the resolution of cases. An attorney cannot be allowed to delay production of testimony until either the deposition or trial, by invoking the "shield" of either "absolute" or "qualified" attorney work product earlier in the case and then using the testimony as "a sword" whenever it suits the interests of one party. In this case, the Attorney General has provided no justification for that notion of civil litigation.

///

///

III. The Absence of A Reasonable Expectation of Confidentiality in the Content of An Independent Witness' Signed or Recorded Verbatim Statement Precludes a Finding of Work-Product Protection

The Court of Appeal decided it was unnecessary to discuss an additional reason for holding that independent witness statements are not protected from discovery as the "work product" of the procuring attorney criteria. That reason is the absence of a confidential relationship between the attorney and the witness. That reason is important, however, because it renders wholly unnecessary any debate about the meaning and significance of whether the witness statements are "derivative" or "nonderivative".

The majority opinion emphasized: "Independent' witnesses are to be distinguished from witnesses who have a confidential relationship with the attorney - e.g., the client." (Coito, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 766, fn. 11.) Because the attorney involved in procuring a witness statement from an independent third-party witness cannot have a reasonable expectation that the content of the statement, or the circumstances under which the statement was obtained, will remain "confidential", the work-product doctrine does not apply. It is not "work product" in the first instance.

A. The Court of Appeal's majority opinion declined to discuss the significance of the absence of confidentiality between attorneys and independent witnesses, but that issue is also dispositive of whether the witness' statements are "attorney work product" at all.

The majority-opinion, having concluded that the State failed to make the required showing that the absolute or qualified work-product doctrine applied to the witness statements in this particular case, elected not to analyze the effect of the absence of an expectation of confidentiality, concluding it was relevant only to the issue of waiver. "[W]e need not and do not consider petitioner's additional argument that, because witness interviews by their very nature are not confidential, the waiver doctrine should apply." (Id. at p. 770, n.17.)

The argument Coito advanced, however, is that an expectation of confidentiality is an element of the work-product doctrine that goes to the establishment of the protection, and not just to waiver. As will be demonstrated, California courts have more recently not only acknowledged the requisite for an expectation of confidentiality in context of waiver, but also in the context of establishing the protection in the first place.

B. California courts have recognized that a reasonable expectation of confidentiality is both an element necessary to establish the existence of work-product protection, as well as an issue pertaining to waiver.

In BP Alaska Exploration, Inc. v. Superior Court (1988) 199

Cal.App.3d 1240 ("BP Alaska"), the Fifth District Court of Appeal

considered a question of first impression in California, i.e., whether an

attorney's opinion writing retains its work product status upon delivery to

the client. (Id. at p. 1255.) In so doing, the Fifth District began a judicial

trend of expressly acknowledging that an expectation of confidentiality was

necessarily an aspect of the work-product doctrine.

The broader issue under consideration, whether the crime-fraud exception to the attorney-client privilege also applies to work product protected information, would have been rendered moot "if the writings containing the attorney's legal opinions and impressions . . . are outside the statutory definition of work-product[.]" (*Id.* at p. 1253.) The Fifth District rejected the idea that this threshold issue, whether the writings met the statutory definition of work-product, was one of waiver.

This is not a question of waiver of the work product rule by the attorney's act of delivering the document to the client (under the cases, such a communication in confidence does not constitute a waiver) but

rather is a question of whether the document loses its character as work product once it is delivered to the client.

[Id. at pp. 1252-1253, bold added.]

Explicitly recognizing the confidential nature of work-product protected information, the Fifth District concluded that an "attorney's absolute work product protection continues as to the contents of a writing delivered to a client **in confidence**." (*Id*. at p. 1260, bold added.)

The recognition of an attorney's right to assert a work product protection in the contents of a writing after it is delivered to the client strengthens the attorney-client relationship by enabling the attorney to evaluate his client's case and to communicate his opinions to the client without fear that his opinions and theories will thereafter be exposed to the opposing party or to the public in general for criticism or ridicule. [Id., bold added.]

After addressing the *threshold* issue, the Fifth District *then* addressed the issue of "waiver" as the only possible exception to work product protection.

The sole exception to the literal wording of the statute which the cases have recognized is under the *waiver* doctrine which has been held applicable to the work product rule as well as the attorney-client privilege. (See cases cited in 2 Jefferson, Cal. Evidence Benchbook (2d ed. 1982) § 41.2, pp. 1483, 1485-1486.)

[Id. at p. 1254, emphasis in original.]

The Court of Appeal's opinion continued:

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